



12. Aeromonas spp.

Smyrli M., Katharios P.

in

Zrncic S. (ed.). Diagnostic Manual for the main pathogens in European seabass and Gilthead seabream aquaculture

Zaragoza : CIHEAM Options Méditerranéennes : Série B. Etudes et Recherches; n. 75

2020 pages 107-116

Article available on line / Article disponible en ligne à l'adresse :

http://om.ciheam.org/article.php?IDPDF=00007945

To cite this article / Pour citer cet article

Smyrli M., Katharios P. **12. Aeromonas spp..** In : Zrncic S. (ed.). *Diagnostic Manual for the main pathogens in European seabass and Gilthead seabream aquaculture*. Zaragoza : CIHEAM, 2020. p. 107-116 (Options Méditerranéennes : Série B. Etudes et Recherches; n. 75)



http://www.ciheam.org/ http://om.ciheam.org/



12. Aeromonas spp.

M. Smyrli and P. Katharios

Hellenic Centre for Marine Research, Institute of Marine Biology, Biotechnology and Aquaculture (IMBBC), Heraklion Crete, Greece

Table of contents

- 12.1. Aetiology of Aeromonas spp.
- 12.2. Infections and pathology of Aeromonas spp.
- 12.3. Sampling

12.3.1. Preparation and shipment of samples from fish

- 12.4. Diagnostic procedures for Aeromonas spp.
 - 12.4.1. Screening of pure cultures
 - 12.4.2. Identification of the strain

12.4.2.1. Biochemical identification

- 12.4.2.2. Molecular detection and identification
- 12.4.3. In vitro susceptibility testing

References

Photos

12.1. Aetiology of Aeromonas spp.

According to the last edition of Bergey's Manual of Systematic Bacteriology (2nd edition 2005) (Martin-Carnahan and Joseph, 2005) the genus Aeromonas comprises at least 14 named species: *A. hydrophila, A. allosaccharophila, A. bestiarum, A. caviae, A. encheleia, A. eucrenophila, A. jandaei, A. media, A. popoffii, A. salmonicida, A. schubertii, A. sobria, A. trota, A. veronii* and two unnamed *Aeromonas* spp. (DHG 11 and G501).

The taxonomy of the genus is still evolving and numerous new species have been described to date based on clinical and environmental samples (i. e. Figueras *et al.*, 2016). Also, numerous reclassifications, nominations and synonymization have been proposed since then. The current taxonomic status of the 14 species described above also includes two subspecies of *A. hydrophila* (*hydrophila* and *ranae*) (Huys *et al.*, 2003), five subspecies of *A. salmonicida* (*salmonicida*, *achromogenes*, *masoucida*, *pectinolytica* and *smithia*) and two biovarieties of *A. veronii* (*veronii* and *sobria*).

The psychrophilic, non-motile, pigment-producing *A. salmonicida* subsp. *salmonicida* is the typical aetiological agent of furunculosis in salmonids. The rest of the *A. salmonicida* subspecies are considered "atypical" *A. salmonicida* strains and are related to diseases that affect non-salmonids and warm-water fish in general (Menanteau-Ledouble *et al.*, 2016; Austin and Austin, 2012). The mesophilic species *A. hydrophila* is a widely known fish pathogen

causing ulcerative, haemorrhagic and septicaemic infections mainly in freshwater fish like tilapias, carps, goldfish, rainbow trout etc. Other species causing infections in fish are *A. bestiarum, A. caviae, A. jandaei, A. piscicola, A. schubertii, A. sobria* and *A. veronii* bv. *sobria* (Austin and Austin, 2012).

12.2. Infections and pathology of Aeromonas spp.

In the Mediterranean Sea, aeromonads have been isolated from coastal marine, brackish waters and sediment; they are considered part of the gut microbiota of fish and can be isolated from tissues of apparently healthy marine fish (Scarano *et al.*, 2018; Pedonese *et al.*, 2012; Dumontet *et al.*, 2000; Toranzo *et al.*, 1993; Martinez *et al.*, 2010; Floris *et al.*, 2013). In numerous cases of diseased farmed fish e.g. European seabass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*), gilthead seabream (*Sparus aurata*), sharp snout seabream (*Diplodus puntazzo*), common pandora (*Pagellus erythrinus*), common dentex (*Dentex dentex*) etc., aeromonads have been isolated generally in low frequency and usually in mixed infections with other marine pathogens such as *Vibrio* spp., *Pseudomonas* spp., *Photobacterium damselae*, and *Tenacibaculum marinum* (Yiagnisis and Athanassopoulou, 2011; Athanassopoulou *et al.*, 1999; Yardımcı and Timur, 2015; Colorni *et al.*, 1981; Balebona *et al.*, 1998; Zorrilla *et al.*, 2003; Öztürk and Altınok, 2014; Martino *et al.*, 2011).

In European seabass, pathogenic aeromonads are *A. hydrophila, A. veronii* bv. *sobria* and *A. salmonicida,* which have been reported in both juvenile and grown fish. In the Aegean Sea, *A. hydrophila* caused morbidity and low daily mortalities (0.5-1%) in *D. labrax* (150 and 330 g) and *D. puntazzo* (45 g) as well (Doukas *et al.*, 1998). Clinical signs of disease included erythema and swelling of the anus, haemorrhagic spots on the skin and internally, enlargement of the organs, haemorrhages and ecchymosis.

Aeromonas veronii bv sobria is an opportunistic pathogen of fish both in freshwater and in the marine environment, which increasingly gains importance for the aquaculture industry. Outbreaks accompanied by significant losses have been reported in loach (*Misgurnus anguillicaudatu*) farmed in China (Zhu *et al.*, 2016) and in African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*), rajputi (*Puntius gonionotus*), rui (*Labeo rohita*), catla (*Catla catla*), and shole (*Channa striatus*) farmed in Bangladesh (Rahman *et al.*, 2002). Furthermore, *A. veronii* bv sobria has also been reported to cause disease in ornamental fishes (Sreedharan *et al.*, 2013). The pathogenicity of *A. veronii* bv. sobria is attributed to several virulence factors encoded by genes related to T3SS, T6SS T4p, etc. (Barnett *et al.*, 1997; Nawaz *et al.*, 2010; Silver and Graf, 2009; Kirov and Sanderson, 1996; Zhu *et al.*, 2016).

This pathogen has become extremely problematic during the past few years for the culture of European seabass in Greece. The disease in farmed seabass has been described and the pathogens partially characterized (Smyrli *et al.*, 2017). The disease outbreaks occur during the warm months of the year when water temperature is over 21°C. Affected fish are usually lethargic with no appetite and in progressed stages of the disease, they have an icteric appearance due to the highly haemolytic nature of the pathogen as well as extensive liver damage. Internally, multiple abscesses are usually found in the spleen, liver and kidney of affected fish (Fig. 12.1). The disease first appeared in 2008 affecting a single fish farm in Central Greece, but since then more farms in the same but also distant areas in Greece are affected. In the beginning, the disease was mainly found in bigger fish reaching commercial size (>200g in weight), but lately, it also affects younger fish with weights lower than 50g. Cumulative mortality can be as high as 80% if it is not treated with antibiotics and it is a major concern for the producers in the affected areas.

The same species, *A. veronii* bv. *sobria*, was also reported in the Black Sea as the most prevalent in diseased seabass exhibiting darkening, exophthalmia, erratic swimming, abdominal swelling and ulcerative lesions on operculum and mouth. In this case, the pathogen was

isolated alone or in mixed infections with *Ph. damselae* subsp. *damselae* and *Vibrio* spp. and the study did not present pathogenicity data (Uzun and Ogut, 2015). The water temperature ranged between 20-26 °C.

Petechial haemorrhages externally, and white lesions on the internal organs and enlargement of the spleen were observed in *D. labrax* infected from *A. salmonicida* subsp. *masoucida/ achromogenes* reared in the Black Sea (Karatas *et al.*, 2005). Cumulative mortality of 5-6 g and 100 g fish reached 20% during the outbreak (2 months).

In the Mediterranean coast of Spain, *A. salmonicida* subsp. *salmonicida* caused 3.8% mortality during two disease outbreaks between May-June in juvenile *D. labrax* (9 g) (Fernández-Álvarez *et al.*, 2016). Initially, fish were asymptomatic but progressively, ulcerative lesions appeared in the skin and muscle. Internally the only clinical sign recorded was enlargement of the spleen.

In another case, in Gran Canaria (Atlantic), *A. salmonicida* subsp. *salmonicida* caused a hyperacute disease in *S. aurata* (1 g) after transportation of the fish to the ongrowing facility (Real *et al.*, 1994). Moribund fish exhibited pale gills, dark coloration of the skin and petechial haemorrhages on mouth and gills. Mortality reached 6-7% in the first 3 days.

12.3. Sampling

12.3.1. Preparation and shipment of samples from fish

Fish presenting clinical signs of disease, moribund or freshly dead should be sampled and examined as soon as possible after collection (ideally within 24 h after collection). Fish samples should be stored in ice until processing. Fish treated with antimicrobial agents should be avoided because of possible false negative results.

12.4. Diagnostic procedures for Aeromonas spp.

The kidney and subsequently the spleen and liver are generally suggested for internal sampling and skin ulcers, when present, for external sampling. Whitish nodules that are frequently recorded on the organs of infected fish should also be preferred as they may include bacteria aggregates.

For smaller fish (juvenile/ larvae etc.), washing of the whole fish with sterile saline is proposed before the sampling. In that case, sampling from the kidney can also be achieved with a vertical section of the whole body with a sterile blade just behind the head. Subsequently, bacteriological sampling from the kidney can be achieved with a sterile loop.

At least ten fish should be sampled in order to detect the aeromonads in an apparently healthy population while ten fish should be enough in case of selective sampling of diseased fish (Noga, 2010).

Aeromonads grow well on common culture media such as TSA, BHI and Blood agar supplemented with 0.5-2% NaCl after 24-48h incubation at 22-25°C. Selective media like Aeromonas isolation agar (AIA) supplemented with ampicillin is also recommended. Media supplemented with higher salt concentrations (4-6% NaCl) can be used in order to discriminate after the initial isolation the presumptive aeromonad isolates. TCBS agar can also be informative if combined with gradient NaCl media and after the check for growth on AIA.

12.4.1. Screening of pure cultures

Colony morphology may not be very informative. Aeromonads generally form smooth, circular, shiny and convex colonies of 2-3 mm diameter after 24-48 h incubation. Rough colonies or with

buttery texture may be observed, either translucent or opaque. Coloration is generally greyishwhite to buff. Colony morphology may vary among strains of the same species.

Some strains produce brown pigment (pyomelanin) diffused on the agar medium (e.g. TSA) after 24-72 h of incubation. This phenotypic characteristic may be expressed by *A. salmonicida* but also *A. media, A. hydrophila, A. bestiarum, A. eucrenophila* and *A. veronii* may present this character.

On sheep blood agar, β -haemolysis can be observed after 24-48 h incubation. Haemolysis is higher when using fish blood (Fig. 12.2). On AIA they appear green as they generally do not metabolise xylose. Depending on the strain and species, production of H₂S would be manifested by the black colour on the top of the colony. Aeromonads are expected to grow significantly less or not at all in media supplemented with NaCl concentrations over 4%. Aeromonads, generally do not grow on TCBS but many isolates do (yellow or green colour) so this phenotype should not be used alone. Generally, if growth occurs, it should be less than when observed in optimum conditions or general media.

Mesophilic species grow well in temperatures up to 35-37°C while the psychrophilic *A. salmonicida* presents optimum growth at 22-25° and does not grow at 37°C.

Aeromonads are Gram-negative, facultative anaerobic, short rods $(0.3-1.0 \times 1.0-3.5 \mu m)$. They generally appear as single cells but they also form short chains. Most stains are motile by a single polar flagellum. Peritrichous or lateral flagella may be observed less frequently, as well as non-motile strains. They are oxidase and catalase positive and generally resistant to the vibriostatic agent O/129 (2, 4- diamino-6, 7-di-iso-propylpteridine phosphate). Nevertheless, some strains of *A. eucrenophila* and *A. veronii* bv. *veronii* are sensitive to high concentrations (150 µg) of the agent. Other metabolic traits include ability to metabolize glucose and trehalose, reduction of nitrate, β -galactosidase activity, inability to hydrolyze urea, inability to ferment inositol and to produce acid from amygdalin etc. (Martin-Carnahan and Joseph, 2005; Abbott *et al.*, 2003).

12.4.2. Identification of the strain

12.4.2.1. Biochemical identification

Phenotypic tests often fail to identify aeromonads to species level and miniaturized commercial identification systems such as API 20E, API 20NE and BIOLOG GENIII Microplate present constraints in the identification of fish pathogens and aeromonads specifically (Austin, 2011; Santos *et al.*, 1993; Beaz and Jos, 2012). Thus, phenotypic tests are proposed for identification at genus level. Subsequently, key biochemical reactions such as ornithine decarboxylase reaction could be used to differentiate between, for instance, the biovarieties of *A. veronii* such as bv. *veronii* or bv. *sobria*.

12.4.2.2. Molecular detection and identification

Strains that grew on AIA, grew better in low salinity media, and/or were identified as *Aeromonas* spp. with biochemical tests, are proposed to be included in the molecular analysis.

Bacterial DNA can be extracted from an overnight culture obtained from a single colony on a fresh plate (24-48 h). After centrifugation and washing the bacterial pellet in sterile saline, DNA extraction can be performed with commercial kits or with the boiling method.

Detection of aeromonads can be achieved by PCR amplification of the 16S-23S rRNA intergenic spacer regions (ISR) of rRNA operons (Kong *et al.*, 1999).

Amplification of the IGS-23S of the ISR according to (Kong et al., 1999):

Forward primer	Aero-F	5'- GGAAACTTCTTGGCGAAAAC -3'
Reverse Primer	Aero-R	5'- GGTTCTTTTCGCCTTTCCCT -3'

The following PCR conditions are recommended:

Initial polymerase activation	Denaturation	Annealing	Extension	Final extension
94°C	94°C	60°C	72°C	7000
2 min	1 min	1 min	1 min	72°C
-		35 cycles		5 11111

The length of the expected amplified product is 550 bp.

Identification of aeromonads to genus level can be achieved by PCR amplification of the extracellular lipase Glycerophospholipid-cholesterol acyltransferase (GCAT) gene (Chacon *et al.*, 2002).

Amplification of the GCAT gene according to (Chacon et al., 2002):

Forward primer	GCAT-F	5'- CTCCTGGAATCCCAAGTATCAG -3'
Reverse Primer	GCAT-R	5'- GGCAGGTTGAACAGCAGTATCT -3'

The following PCR conditions are recommended:

Initial polymerase activation	Denaturation	Annealing	Extension	Final extension
95°C	94°C	65°C	72°C	7000
3 min	1 min	1 min	1 min	72°C 5 min
		35 cycles		5 1111

The length of the expected amplified product is 237 bp.

Identification of aeromonads to species level can be achieved by sequencing housekeeping genes such as gyrB encoding the B-subunit of DNA gyrase and rpoD encoding s⁷⁰ factor which confers promoter-specific transcription initiation on RNA polymerase (Soler *et al.*, 2004; Yanez *et al.*, 2003; Beaz and Jos, 2012).

	Primer	Position	Sequence 5' – 3'
gyrB	gyrB 3F	334–354	TCCGGCGGTCTGCACGGCGT
	gyrB 9Rs	980–960	CCTTGACCGAAATGACCGCC
	gyrB 7F	792–812	GGGGTCTACTGCTTCACCAA
	gyrB 9R	979–959	ACCTTGACGGAGATAACGGC
	gyrB 14R	1464–1444	TTGTCCGGGTTGTACTCGTC
rpoD	rpoD 70F	280–323	ACGACTGACCCGGTACGCATGTAYATGMGNGARATGG GNACNGT
	rpoD 70Fs	280-302	ACGACTGACCCGGTACGCATGTA
	rpoD 70Fs1	740-757	GTCAATTCCGCCTGATGC
	rpoD 70R	1139-1096	ATAGAAATAACCAGACGTAAGTTNGCYTCNACCATYTCY TTYTT
	rpoD 70Rs	1139-1117	ATAGAAATAACCAGACGTAAGTT
	rpoD 70Rs1	800-782	ATCATCTCGCGCATGTTGT

The following PCR conditions are recommended for gyrB according to (Yanez et al., 2003):

Initial polymerase activation	Denaturation	Annealing	Extension	Final extension
94°C	94°C	55°C	72°C	7000
3 min	30"	30"	1 min	72°C
		35 cycles		TO IIIII

The length of the expected amplified product is 1100 bp.

The following conditions for touch-down PCR are recommended for rpoD according to (Soler *et al.*, 2004):

- Initial denaturation at 95°C for 5 min,
- 2 cycles of denaturation at 94°C for 1 min, annealing at 63°C for 1 min, extension at 72°C for 1 min,
- 2 cycles of denaturation at 94°C for 1 min, annealing at 61°C for 1 min, extension at 72°C for 1 min,
- 2 cycles of denaturation at 94°C for 1 min, annealing at 59°C for 1 min, extension at 72°C for 1 min,
- 30 cycles of denaturation at 94°C for 1 min, annealing at 58°C for 1 min, extension at 72°C for 1 min.

Final extension step is not described but one cycle at 72°C for 5-10 min should work. The length of the expected amplified product is 820 bp.

12.4.3. In vitro susceptibility testing

The CLSI documents (CLSI 2006; CLSI 2014; CLSI 2016) should be considered. Generally, the interpretation criteria and breakpoints for aeromonads are relatively set by *Enterobacteriaceae*. Aeromonads are resistant to ampicillin, penicillin, carbenicillin, and ticarcillin and susceptible to trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole, second and third generation cephalosporins, aminoglycosides, tetracyclines, quinolones and carbapenems (Martin-Carnahan and Joseph, 2005; Scarano *et al.*, 2018; Lamy *et al.*, 2012; Kämpfer *et al.*, 1999; Baron *et al.*, 2017; Aravena-Roman *et al.*, 2012).

From the species isolated from seabass, gilthead seabream and sharp snout seabream in the cases mentioned above, A. hydrophila was found to be susceptible to flumequine and oxytetracycline tested by the disk diffusion method (Doukas et al., 1998) and using the same method A. veronii by. sobria was resistant to ampicillin and susceptible to all commercial antibiotics (tetracycline, oxytetracycline. oxolinic acid, flumequine, florfenicol and sulphamethoxazole/ trimethoprim) (Smyrli et al., 2017). With the same method, A. salmonicida subsp. masoucida/ achromogenes was also found to be susceptible to trimethoprim, flumequine, oxytetracycline, oxolinic acid and to most of the antibiotics tested and showed resistance to sulfonamides, amoxicillin-clavulanic acid, ampicillin and ampicillin-sulbactam (Karatas et al., 2005). Tested with the agar diffusion method A. salmonicida subsp. salmonicida was found to be susceptible to all tested antibiotics (ampicillin, amoxicillin, flumequine, enrofloxacin, florfenicol, trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole, oxolinic acid and pteridine) except for oxytetracycline (Fernández-Álvarez et al., 2016). Finally, the same species isolated from seabream was susceptible to most of the tested antibiotics (oxytetracycline, trimethoprim, polymyxin B, kanamycin, doxycycline, nitrofurantoin, tribricin, erythromycin, gentamicin, neomycin and cefotaxime) showing resistance to novobiocin, streptomycin, sulphonamides and penicillin (Real et al., 1994).

References

- Abbott S.L., Cheung W.K. and Janda J.M., 2003. The genus *Aeromonas*: biochemical characteristics, atypical reactions, and phenotypic identification schemes. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 41, 2348–2357.
- Aravena-Roman M., Inglis T.J.J., Henderson B., Riley T.V., Chang J.B., 2012. Antimicrobial susceptibilities of *Aeromonas* strains isolated from clinical and environmental sources to 26 antimicrobial agents. *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, 56, 1110–1112.
- Athanassopoulou F., Prapas T., Rodger H., 1999. Diseases of *Puntazzo puntazzo* Cuvier in marine aquaculture systems in Greece. *Journal of Fish Diseases*, 22, 215–218.
- Austin B., 2011. Taxonomy of bacterial fish pathogens. Veterinary Research, 42, 20.
- Austin B. and Austin D.A. 2012. Bacterial fish pathogens: disease of farmed and wild fish 5th ed., Springer Netherlands.
- Balebona M.C., Zorilla I., Morinigo M.A., Borrego J.J., 1998. Survey of bacterial pathologies affecting farmed gilt-head sea bream (*Sparus aurata* L.) in southwestern Spain from 1990 to 1996. *Aquaculture*, 166, 19–35.
- Barnett T.C., Kirov S.M., Strom M.S., Sanderson K., 1997. Aeromonas spp. possess at least two distinct type IV pilus families. *Microbial pathogenesis*, 23, 241–247.
- Baron S., Granier S.A., Larvor E., Jouy E., Cineux M., Wilhelm A., Gassilloud B., Le Le Bouquin S., Kempf I., Chauvin C., 2017. *Aeromonas* Diversity and Antimicrobial Susceptibility in Freshwater-An Attempt to Set Generic Epidemiological Cut-Off Values. *Frontiers in microbiology*, 8, 503.
- Beaz R. and Jos M., 2012. Molecular Detection and Characterization of Furunculosis and Other Aeromonas Fish Infections. In Health and Environment in Aquaculture.
- Chacon M.R., et al., 2002. A DNA probe specific for Aeromonas colonies. Diagnostic microbiology and infectious disease, 44, 221–225.
- **CLSI, 2016.** Methods for Antimicrobial Dilution and Disk Susceptibility Testing of iInfrequently Isolated or Fastidious Bacteria. 3rd ed. CLSI Guideline M45. Wayne, PA: Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute.
- **CLSI, 2006.** Methods for Antimicrobial Disk Susceptibility Testing of Bacteria Isolated From Aquatic Animals; Approved Guideline. CLSI document VET03-A. Wayne, PA: Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute.
- **CLSI**, 2014. Methods for Broth Dilution Susceptibility Testing of Bacteria Isolated from Aquatic Animals; Approved Guideline. CLSI document VET04-A2. Wayne, PA: Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute.
- Colorni A., Paperna I., Gordin H., 1981. Bacterial infections in gilt-head sea bream Sparus aurata cultured at Elat. *Aquaculture*, 23, 257–267.
- Doukas V., Athanassopoulou F., Karagouni E., Dotsika E., 1998. Short communication Aeromonas hydrophila infection in cultured sea bass, *Dicentrarchus labrax* L., and *Puntazzo puntazzo* Cuvier from the Aegean Sea. Journal of Fish Diseases, 21, 317–320.

Dumontet S., Krovacek K., Svenson S.B., Pasquale V., Baloda S.B., Figliuolo G., 2000. Prevalence

and diversity of *Aeromonas* and *Vibrio* spp. in coastal waters of Southern Italy. *Comparative immunology, microbiology and infectious diseases*, 23, 53–72.

- Fernández-Álvarez, C., Gijon D., Alvarez M., Santos Y., 2016. First isolation of *Aeromonas salmonicida* subspecies *salmonicida* from diseased sea bass, *Dicentrarchus labrax* (L.), cultured in Spain. *Aquaculture Reports*, 4, 36–41.
- Figueras, M.J., Latif-Eugenin F., Ballester F., Pujol I., Tena D., Berg K., Hossain M.J., Beaz-Hidalgo R., Liles M.R., 2016. "Aeromonas intestinalis" and "Aeromonas enterica" isolated from human faeces, "Aeromonas crassostreae" from oyster and "Aeromonas aquatilis" isolated from lake water represent novel species. New microbes and new infections, 15, 74–76.
- Floris, Rosalba, Manca, S. and Fois, N., 2013. Microbial ecology of intestinal tract of gilthead sea bream (Sparus aurata Linnaeus, 1758) from two coastal lagoons of Sardinia (Italy).
- Huys G., Pearson M., Kampfer P., Denys R., Cnockaert M., Inglis V., Swings J., 2003. Aeromonas hydrophila subsp. ranae subsp. nov., isolated from septicaemic farmed frogs in Thailand. International journal of systematic and evolutionary microbiology, 53, 885–891.
- Kämpfer, P. Christmann D., Swings J., Huys G., 1999. In vitro Susceptibilities of *Aeromonas* Genomic Species to 69 Antimicrobial Agents. *Systematic and Applied Microbiology*, 22, 662–669.
- Karatas S., Candan A., Demircan D., 2005. Atypical Aeromonas infection in cultured sea bass (Dicentrarchus labrax) in the Black Sea. Israeli Journal of Aquaculture-Bamidgeh, 57, 255–263.
- Kirov S.M., Sanderson K., 1996. Characterization of a type IV bundle-forming pilus (SFP) from a gastroenteritis-associated strain of *Aeromonas veronii* biovar *sobria*. *Microbial Pathogenesis*, 21, 23– 34.
- Kong R.Y., Pelling A., So C.L., Wu R.S.S., 1999. Identification of Oligonucleotide Primers Targeted at the 16S–23S rDNA Intergenic Spacers for Genus- and Species-specific Detection of Aeromonads. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 38, 802–808.
- Lamy B., Laurent F., Kodjo A., Roger F., Jumas-Bilak E., The colBVH Study Group, Marchandin H., 2012. Which antibiotics and breakpoints should be used for *Aeromonas* susceptibility testing? Considerations from a comparison of agar dilution and disk diffusion methods using *Enterobacteriaceae* breakpoints. *European journal of clinical microbiology and infectious diseases*: official publication of the European Society of Clinical Microbiology, 31, 2369–2377.
- Martin-Carnahan A.M., Joseph S.W., 2005. Family Aeromonadaceae. In Colwell, MacDonell and De Ley 1986, in: Brenner, D.J., Krieg, N.R., Staley, J.T. and Garrity G. M. Eds. The Proteobacteria, Part B, Bergey's Manual of Systematic Bacteriology, vol. 2, Second ed., Springer, New York, pp. 474 556– 578.
- Martinez B., Miranda J.M., Nebot C., Rodriguez J.L., Cepeda A., Franco C.M., 2010. Differentiation of farmed and wild turbot (*Psetta maxima*): proximate chemical composition, fatty acid profile, trace minerals and antimicrobial resistance of contaminant bacteria. *Food science and technology international = Ciencia y tecnologia de los alimentos internacional*, 16, 435–441.
- Martino M.E., Fasolato L., Montemurro F., Manfrin A., Patarnello T., Novelli E., Cardazzo B., 2011. Determination of microbial diversity of *Aeromonas* strains on the basis of multilocus sequence typing, phenotype, and presence of putative virulence genes. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 77, 4986–5000.
- Menanteau-Ledouble S., El-Matbouli M., 2016. Aeromonas salmonicida: updates on an old acquaintance. Diseases of aquatic organisms, 120, 49–68.
- Nawaz M., Khan S.A., Khan A.A., Sung K., Tran Q., Kerdahi K., Steele T., 2010. Detection and characterization of virulence genes and integrons in *Aeromonas veronii* isolated from catfish. *Food microbiology*, 27, 327–331.
- Noga E.J., 2010. Fish disease : diagnosis and treatment, Ames, Iowa: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Öztürk R.Ç. and Altınok I., 2014. Bacterial and viral fish diseases in Turkey. *Turkish Journal of Fisheries* and Aquatic Sciences, 14, 275–297.
- Pedonese F., Nuvoloni R., Forzale F., Frantini F., Evangelisti S., D'Ascenzi C., Rindi S., 2012. Occurrence and antimicrobial susceptibility of aeromonads from maricultured gilthead seabream (*Sparus aurata*). In *Animal farming and environmental interactions in the Mediterranean region*. Springer, pp. 205–209.
- Rahman M., Colque-Navarro P., Kuhn I., huys G., Swings J., Mollby R., 2002. Identification and characterization of pathogenic *Aeromonas veronii* biovar *sobria* associated with Epizootic Ulcerative Syndrome in fish in Bangladesh. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 68, 650–655.
- Real, F. et al., 1994. Aeromonas salmonicida infection in Sparus aurata in the Canaries. Bulletin of the European Association of Fish Pathologists (United Kingdom), v. 14.
- Santos Y., Romalde J.L., Bandin I., Magarinos S., Nunez J., Barja L., Toranzo A.E., 1993. Usefulness of the API-20E system for the identification of bacterial fish pathogens. *Aquaculture*, 116, 111–120.
- Scarano C., Piras F., Virdis S., Ziino G., Nuvoloni R., Dalmasso Ă., De Santil E.P.L., Spanu C., 2018.

Antibiotic resistance of *Aeromonas* spp. strains isolated from *Sparus aurata* reared in Italian mariculture farms. *International journal of food microbiology*, 284, 91–97.

- Silver A.C. and Graf J., 2009. Prevalence of genes encoding the type three secretion system and the effectors AexT and AexU in the Aeromonas veronii group. DNA and cell biology, 28, 383–388.
- Smyrli M., Prapas A., Rigos G., Kokkari C., Pavlidis M., Pantelis K., 2017. Aeromonas veronii infection associated with morbidity and mortality in farmed European seabass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*). Fish Pathology, 52, 68–81.
- Soler L., Yanez M.A., Chacon M.R., Aguillera-Arreola M.G., Catalan V., Figueras M.J., Martinez-Murcia A.J., 2004. Phylogenetic analysis of the genus *Aeromonas* based on two housekeeping genes. International journal of systematic and evolutionary microbiology, 54, 1511–1519.
- Sreedharan K., Philip R. and Singh I., 2013. Characterization and virulence potential of phenotypically diverse Aeromonas veronii isolates recovered from moribund freshwater ornamental fishes of Kerala, India. Antonie van Leeuwenhoek, 103, 53–67.
- Toranzo A.E., Novoa B., Romalde J.L, Nunez S., Devesa S., Marino E., Silva R., Martinez E., Figueras A., Barja J.L., 1993. Microflora associated with healthy and diseased turbot (*Scophthalmus maximus*) from three farms in northwest Spain. *Aquaculture*, 114, 189–202.
- Uzun E. and Ogut H., 2015. The isolation frequency of bacterial pathogens from sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) in the Southeastern Black Sea. *Aquaculture*, 437, 30–37.
- Yanez M.A., Catalan V., Apraiz D., Figueras M.J., Martinez-Murcia A.J., 2003. Phylogenetic analysis of members of the genus *Aeromonas* based on gyrB gene sequences. *International journal of systematic* and evolutionary microbiology, 53, 875–883.
- Yardımcı R.E. and Timur G., 2015. Isolation and identification of *Tenacibaculum maritimum*, the causative agent of Tenacibaculosis in farmed sea bass (Dicentrarchus labrax) on the Aegean Sea coast of Turkey. *The Israeli Journal of Aquaculture Bamidgeh*, 67, p.10.
- Yiagnisis M. and Athanassopoulou F., 2011. Bacteria isolated from diseased wild and farmed marine fish in Greece, INTECH Open Access Publisher.
- Zhu M., Wang X.R., Li J., Li G.Y., Liu Z.P., Mo Z.L., 2016. Identification and virulence properties of Aeromonas veronii bv. sobria isolates causing an ulcerative syndrome of loach Misgurnus anguillicaudatus. Journal of Fish Diseases, 39, 777–781.
- Zorrilla I., Chabrillon M., Arijo S., Diaz-Rosales P., Martinez-Manzanares E., Balebona M.C., Moringo M.A., 2003. Bacteria recovered from diseased cultured gilthead sea bream (*Sparus aurata* L.) in southwestern Spain. *Aquaculture*, 218, 11–20.

Photos



Fig. 12.1. Enlarged spleen with multiple abscesses, typical clinical picture of *A. veronii*-affected European seabass



Fig. 12.2. a) Brown pigment secreted from *A. veronii* bv. *sobria*; b) Haemolytic activity of *A. veronii* bv. *sobria* using fish blood